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POLLUTION CONTROL HEARINGS BOARD 
FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

 
WILD FISH CONSERVANCY; and 
CENTER FOR ENVIRONMENTAL LAW 
& POLICY 
 
                               Appellants, 
 
     v. 
 
WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT 
OF ECOLOGY; and UNITED STATES 
FISH and WILDLIFE SERVICE 
 
                               Respondent, 
___________________________________ 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
No.  
 
NOTICE OF APPEAL 
 
 
 
 
 

 

I. The name, mailing address, telephone number and telefacsimile of the appealing 
parties, and of the representative:  

 
 The appealing parties are: 
 
 Wild Fish Conservancy 
 15629 Main Street NE 
 P.O. Box 402 
 Duvall, WA 98019 
 (425) 788-1167 

 
Center for Environmental Law and Policy 
25 W. Main, Suite 234 
Spokane, WA 99201 
(509) 209-2899

(206) 860-2883 
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The representative of the appealing parties is: 
 
 Brian Knutsen 
 Smith & Lowney, PLLC 
 2317 East John Street 
 Seattle, WA 98112 
 Tel: (206) 860-2883 
 Fax: (206) 860-4187 
 

Appellant Wild Fish Conservancy is a membership-based 501(c)(3) nonprofit 

organization incorporated in the State of Washington with its principal place of business in 

Duvall, Washington.  Wild Fish Conservancy is dedicated to the preservation and recovery of 

Washington’s native fish species and the ecosystems upon which those species depend.  Wild 

Fish Conservancy brings this appeal on behalf of itself and its approximately 2,400 members.  

Wild Fish Conservancy changed its name from “Washington Trout” in 2007. 

Wild Fish Conservancy’s members derive scientific, recreational, health, conservation, 

spiritual, aesthetic, and economic benefits from Icicle Creek and the surrounding area, from the 

preservation of flows in Icicle Creek, and from the preservation and protection of native fish 

species in Icicle Creek and other species that depend on Icicle Creek.  More specifically, Wild 

Fish Conservancy’s members spend time in areas in and around Icicle Creek that are adversely 

affected by operations of the Leavenworth National Fish Hatchery (“Hatchery”), and reside near 

and regularly visit these areas, including the Icicle Creek area, on a continuing and ongoing 

basis. 

 Wild Fish Conservancy’s members use Icicle Creek for recreation and spiritual renewal.  

Wild Fish Conservancy’s members derive recreational, scientific and aesthetic benefits from the 

existence of a healthy ecosystem and from wildlife in and around Icicle Creek.  These members 

observe, study, photograph, and appreciate wildlife in and around Icicle Creek.  In addition, 
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Wild Fish Conservancy’s members and representatives have met with, negotiated with, and 

worked closely with United States Fish and Wildlife Service personnel and other public officials 

concerning native fish passage issues and other issues regarding Hatchery operations.  Regarding 

the certification appealed herein, Wild Fish Conservancy reviewed and provided extensive 

comments on the draft certification issued by the Washington Department of Ecology. 

 Appellant Center for Environmental Law and Policy (“CELP”) is a membership-based 

501(c)(3) nonprofit organization incorporated in Washington State, with its principal offices 

located in Spokane, Washington.  CELP is dedicated to preserving and protecting the freshwater 

resources of western Washington and the Columbia River Basin, including protection of 

instream flows, water levels and water quality in rivers, stream and drinking water aquifers.  

CELP achieves its goals through education, litigation, and advocacy.  CELP has members who 

live near, recreate on and use and enjoy the waters of the Icicle Creek and are harmed by the 

activities of the Hatchery that affect the habitat and populations of native fisheries, degrade 

water quality, and reduce instream flows.  CELP’s interest in the Icicle Creek dates back to the 

foundation of the organization in 1993.  CELP has commented to state and federal agencies 

about Hatchery operations and water rights, including detailed comments regarding deficiencies 

in the public comment draft version of the certification that is the subject of this appeal. 

II. Identification of the parties: 

 Appellants: Wild Fish Conservancy and CELP 

 Respondents: Washington State Department of Ecology (“Ecology”) is the state agency 

that issued the permit under appeal.  The United States Fish and Wildlife Service (“FWS”) is the 

permittee. 
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III. Copy of the order or decision appealed from: 

 This is an appeal of Ecology Order No. 7192, Certification of the Leavenworth National 

Fish Hatchery (NPDES Permit WA-000-190-2) on Icicle Creek, Chelan County, Washington 

(referred to herein as the “Certification”), a copy of which is attached hereto. 

IV. A short and plain statement showing the grounds upon which the appealing party 
considers such order or decision to be unjust or unlawful: 

 
The Certification is unlawful because it does not meet the requirements of the Clean 

Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 et seq. (“CWA”), the Washington State Water Pollution Control 

law, RCW Ch. 90.48, and applicable regulations promulgated by the United States 

Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) and Ecology.  The Certification fails to provide 

reasonable assurance that operations of, and discharges of pollutants from, the Hatchery will 

comply with the applicable provisions of 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311, 1312, 1313, 1316, and 1317, as 

required by section 401 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1341.  The Certification further fails to set 

forth limitations and monitoring requirements necessary to assure that the Hatchery will comply 

with applicable effluent limitations and other limitations under 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311 and 1312, 

standards of performance under 33 U.S.C. § 1316, prohibitions, effluent standards, and 

pretreatment standards under 33 U.S.C. § 1317, and other appropriate requirements of State law, 

including but not limited to provisions contained within the Washington Water Code, Chs. 90.03 

and 90.44 RCW, the Water Resources Act of 1971, Ch. 90.54 RCW, the Minimum Flow Act, 

Ch. 90.22 RCW, and Washington’s Fishway Act, Ch. 77.57.030 RCW, as required by section 

401(d) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1341(d).  The Certification fails to provide reasonable 

assurance that the Hatchery will not cause and contribute to violations of applicable water 
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quality standards.  40 C.F.R. § 121.2(a)(3).  The Certification is unlawfully vague and 

ambiguous. 

Wild Fish Conservancy and CELP reserve the right to raise new issues if discovered 

during discovery and motions during these proceedings. 

V. Clear and concise statement of facts upon which the appealing party relies: 

Section 401 of the CWA provides that any applicant for a Federal permit to conduct an 

activity that may result in a discharge to navigable waters shall provide the permitting agency a 

certification from the State in which the discharge originates certifying that any such discharge 

must comply with the applicable provisions of 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311, 1312, 1313, 1316, and 1317.  

33 U.S.C. § 1341(a)(1).  The certification must “set forth any effluent limitations and other 

limitations, and monitoring requirements necessary to assure that any applicant for a Federal 

license or permit will comply with any applicable effluent limitations and other limitations, 

under [33 U.S.C. §§ 1311 or 1312], standard of performance under [33 U.S.C. § 1316], or 

prohibition, effluent standard, or pretreatment standard under [33 U.S.C. § 1317], and with any 

other appropriate requirement of State law...”  33 U.S.C. § 1341(d).  The certification shall 

include a statement that there is reasonable assurance that the activity will be conducted in a 

manner which will not violate applicable water quality standards.  40 C.F.R. § 121.2(a)(3). 

The Hatchery is located on the banks of Icicle Creek three miles south of the city of 

Leavenworth, Washington.  The Hatchery discharges pollutants to Icicle Creek, which requires 

the authorization of a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”) permit 

issued by EPA.  EPA issued a draft NPDES permit for the Hatchery in 2006, and FWS 
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subsequently submitted an application to Ecology requesting a certification under section 401 of 

the CWA.  Ecology issued the Certification on January 7, 2010. 

The Certification fails to provide reasonable assurance that the Hatchery will not cause or 

contribute to violations of applicable water quality standards, including but not limited to 

existing and designated uses, as required by applicable law. 

The Certification fails to identify applicable water quality standards for Icicle Creek, 

including existing and designated uses, and fails to identify how the Hatchery causes and 

contributes to violations of those standards.  The Certification fails to define the water quality 

standards of Icicle Creek in a manner that enables the Hatchery’s violation and/or achievement 

of those standards to be measured.  The Certification fails to include monitoring requirements 

sufficient to determine whether the Hatchery is causing or contributing to violations of water 

quality standards.  The Certification fails to include conditions that require the Hatchery to 

comply with applicable standards during the pendency of various studies and prior to Ecology’s 

approval of a final flow management plan. 

The Certification acknowledges that the Hatchery has and will continue to cause 

violations of water quality standards, but the Certification does not set forth a clear schedule for 

the Hatchery to eliminate such violations that complies with applicable law.  The Certification 

lacks any meaningful limitations to minimize violations of water quality standards during the 

pendency of a compliance schedule, as required by applicable law.  No justification exists for 

permitting the Hatchery to continue to violate water quality standards, and the compliance 

schedule is illegal. 

The Certification purports to include adaptive management conditions and/or compliance 

schedules, but these provisions fail to provide reasonable assurance that the Hatchery will 
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comply with applicable standards, are unlawfully vague, and otherwise illegal.  The Certification 

relies extensively on future studies to be conducted by FWS and eventually incorporated into a 

final flow management plan.  The Certification provides that Ecology will review and approve 

these studies and the final flow management plan.  The Certification does not set forth with any 

specificity the parameters for these studies, as required by applicable law.  The Certification does 

not include specific enforceable requirements regarding actions to be taken in response to data 

indicating water quality standards are being violated, as required by applicable law.  Sufficient 

data currently exists for the development of a flow management plan, and the schedule for 

additional studies appears to be an excuse to delay requiring the Hatchery’s compliance with 

applicable legal standards.  The Certification does not set forth with specificity how the data and 

flow recommendations resulting from the various studies will be incorporated into a final flow 

management plan, as required by applicable law.  The Certification unlawfully removes from 

this appeal process determinations that may define the legality of the Certification by delaying 

Ecology’s approval of the studies and final flow management plan. 

The Certification does not include limitations and monitoring requirements to assure that 

the Hatchery complies with applicable effluent limitations and other limitations under 33 U.S.C. 

§§ 1311, 1312 and 1313, as required by applicable law. 

The Certification does not include limitations and monitoring requirements to assure that 

the Hatchery complies with appropriate requirements of State law, including but not limited to 

RCW Ch. 90.82, RCW Ch. 90.54, RCW Ch. 90.22, RCW Ch. 90.03, RCW Ch. 90.44, RCW Ch. 

90.48, RCW 77.57.030, WAC 173-545-010 – 170, and WAC Ch. 173-201A, as required by 

applicable law.  For example, the Hatchery diverts water from Icicle Creek at various times of 

the year into a bypass canal at a structure referred to as structure 2 (also referred to as “dam 2” or 

(206) 860-2883 
 

 




























